STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County

Honorable J. C. Buddy Nicholson, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
JAN 10 2019
S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DAVID ALAN WHITE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-000616

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LAURA R. BAER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court erred in limiting Appellant to pursuing either the defense of self-defense or accident, ruling that the two were mutually exclusive defenses?

- II. Whether the trial court erred in (1) excluding Appellant's proffered testimony that the alleged victim told Appellant that he had a gun and a knife on his moped, which was located in close proximity to the incident, and (2) restricting the admission of testimony that the victim told Appellant about his history of making shanks in prison to impeachment only, where such evidence was not hearsay and integral to Appellant's defense?

- III. Whether the trial court erred in denying Appellant's request to charge self-defense where there was evidence in the record that Appellant was armed in self-defense and acted in self-defense?

- IV. Whether the trial court erred in denying Appellant's request to charge assault and battery second degree where the severity of the alleged victim's injuries was a question of fact for the jury to decide?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 28, 2013, the Charleston County Grand Jury rendered an indictment against Appellant David Alan White for attempted murder. On September 2, 2014, the Grand Jury rendered an additional indictment against White for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 444

On March 14-17, 2016, White appeared for trial before the Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr. and a jury. White was represented by Mary Ford and Benjamin Mack, and the state was represented by Jenna Newman and Shannon Elliott. R. 1, 92, 282, and 419. The jury was charged on attempted murder, assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature ("ABHAN"), assault and battery first degree, possession of a weapon during the commission of or attempt to commit a violent crime, and accident. R. 404, l. 12 – 408, l. 18. The trial judge denied the defense's request to charge self-defense. R. 413, l. 6 – 416, l. 1. The jury returned a verdict of guilty on ABHAN and the weapons charge. R. 424, l. 1 – 428 l. 17. Judge Nicholson sentenced White to consecutive terms of ten years for ABHAN and five years for the weapons charge, for a total of fifteen years. R. 430, l. 1 – 443, l. 5.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Introduction

Appellant White did not dispute that he caused the injury to the alleged victim, Joseph Johnson. However, he testified that his actions were defensible because he was reacting to Johnson punching him in the side of the head as White was leaving the yard of their mutual friend and did not intend to cut Johnson with the knife. Rather, White's hand was in the pocket of his heavy jacket, along with his open pocket-knife, when he was struck. White immediately spun around and intentionally swung out his arm, but he did not realize that knife was in his hand or that Johnson was still so close to him. The knife cut Johnson's neck. R. 345, l. 9 – 349, l. 23. The solicitor argued that "this was no accident" and that White acted intentionally and aimed for Johnson's neck. R. 394, l. 6 – 395, l. 5. The treating physician testified that though surgery was required to repair the damaged muscle, there was no injury to the more serious parts of the neck. R. 296, l. 22 – 301, l. 6; R. 303, l. 6 – 304, l. 16; R. 306, l. 3 – 307, 19.

Despite the evidence, the trial judge refused the defense's requests for jury charges on self-defense and assault and battery second degree. R. 413, l. 4 – 416, l. 1. He instructed defense counsel that she had to pursue either accident or self-defense, saying that they cannot "co-exist." R. 328, l. 22 – 333, l. 12. He further excluded additional evidence that would have supported White's assertion of self-defense, including testimony that Johnson was talking about how he made shanks in prison and that he had knife and gun on his moped, which he had accessed just prior to the incident. R. 323, l. 25 – 341, l. 22. Regarding the lesser-included offense of assault and battery second degree, he ruled that Johnson's injury was "severe" as a matter of law. R. 414, ll. 2-5.

Varying Accounts of the Incident

On the night before Thanksgiving 2013, Spencer Washington (hereinafter “Spencer”) had several men, including White, over to his house to smoke turkeys for the holiday. White arrived at Spencer’s house at approximately 12:30 or 1:00 p.m. that day to help Spencer rake leaves. R. 322, l. 19 – 323, l. 4; R. 353, l. 11 – 354, l. 20. White had been fishing earlier in the day such that he had his pocketknife in the pocket of his thick Carhart jacket. He used the knife at Spencer’s house to cut the saran wrap off pallets so that they could be used in the fire pit. He put the knife back into his pocket, with the blade out. R. 261, ll. 6-14; R. 346, l. 5 – 347, l. 18.

Joseph Johnson was also over at Spencer’s house that day. White had never met Johnson before that night. R. 323, ll. 5-15; R. 355, ll. 2-6. Johnson, who was a barber “on the side,” cut several people’s hair that evening. While he cut White’s hair, Johnson told White about the shanks that he used to make when he was in prison. R. 323, l. 16 – 326, l. 12; R. 342, ll. 6-22. Johnson later told White that he had a gun and a knife underneath the seat of his moped.¹ While the comments struck White as odd, he just walked away and went to the fire pit. R. 326, l. 18 – 327, l. 4; 342, l. 23 – 343, l. 13. Later on in the evening, White went to the store with Kyle Green to get some beer. R. 343, l. 21 – 344, l. 5. When they returned and rejoined the other men at the fire pit, the conversation between all of the men turned to the subject of wrestling. They joked about who amongst them would have to “tap out” first. The men commented on how Johnson had been a champion wrestler in high school. R. 344, l. 6 – 345, l. 8.

White left the group to go call his wife to pick him up because he was tired of being out there and felt uncomfortable. R. 345, ll. 9-16; R. 365, ll. 3-7. As he was walking away, Johnson

¹ White testified that Johnson told him about the gun and knife on his moped during an *in camera* hearing. As will be discussed more fully *infra*, the trial judge excluded this testimony from being admitted before the jury, finding that it was hearsay. See R. 323, l. 25 – 341, l. 22.

came up behind him and punched White in the side of the head. White testified that he reacted by spinning around quickly. R. 345, l. 16 – 346, l. 4; R. 347, ll. 22-25. White had several head injuries in the past and was concerned about the impact the punch to his head may have had. R. 348, l. 1-12. White said that he did not even realize that the knife was in his hand when he spun around and swung his arm. Though he thought that it was Johnson who had hit him, he did not realize that he was going to be that close when he turned. R. 351, ll. 7-14; R. 358, ll. 2-8; R. 360, ll. 8-20. He did not realize that Johnson was cut until he saw the blood. R. 349, ll. 8-19.

When asked why he did not run away when Johnson hit him, White said that he “was more scared than anything” and unsure if he could get away safely. He had felt threatened by the statements made by Johnson earlier in the night and was fearful of Johnson. R. 348, l. 13 – 349, l. 5; R. 351, ll. 15-17. White’s intent when he swung his arm was “protecting” and “defending” himself. R. 349, ll. 6-7. He did not intend to cut Johnson or aim for his throat. R. 320, ll. 16-23. White dropped the knife and left because he was scared. R. 349, l. 22 – 350, l. 7. He considered going to the hospital to have his head checked, but after police contacted him he stayed at his mother’s house until police arrived. White was cooperative with police and gave a statement. R. 350, ll. 8-25. While his statement to police was not admitted into evidence, White agreed with the solicitor that he “told the police that the victim snuck up on [him] and boxed [him].” R. 356, ll. 5-7. He also told police that he was scared that night, wanted to go to the hospital, and was praying for Johnson. R. 363, l. 10 – 364, l. 5.

The State called several witnesses in an attempt to show that White – a thirty year old man with a wife, three children, a steady job, and no criminal history – attempted to kill Johnson that night. *See* R. 320, l. 25 – 322, l. 4; R. 441, l. 21 – 442, l. 6. They included all of the men at the backyard gathering – Spencer Washington (“Spencer”), Albert Jenkins, Henry Washington

(“Henry”), Dwayne Forrest, Kyle Green, and Joseph Johnson. As will be seen below, none of the men gave a consistent account the incident, or the events leading up to it.

Spencer did not see White and Johnson interact during or after White’s haircut, and never saw them being aggressive with each other. R. 70, l. 21 – 71, l. 8; R. 73, ll. 13-21. As far as the incident itself, Spencer said that he saw White walk past Johnson, and then saw White swing back towards Johnson. **Spencer said that White appeared to be in a state of shock after he dropped the knife, such that he did not believe that White intended to cut Johnson.** R. 71, ll. 15-25; R. 83, ll. 3-23. While Spencer had no independent recollection of it, he agreed with the solicitor that in his written statement he wrote that White told Johnson “you’re about to get this” before White swung at him. R. 72, l. 7 – 73, l. 10; R. 88, l. 15 – 89, l. 21. **Spencer said that, until White dropped a knife after the incident, he never saw White with a knife that night.** R. 84, ll. 12-20.

Kyle Green knew both White and Johnson through Spencer. R. 180, l. 25 – 181, l. 25. When Green arrived people were in the back smoking turkeys and drinking beer. He saw Johnson cutting people’s hair, including White’s hair. R. 182, ll. 3-23. Green observed White and Johnson joking with each other – nothing out of the normal. R. 182, l. 24 – 183, l. 3. He was a good distance away when the incident happened, so he did not know what caused it. He saw them facing each other and both of their hands go up. When asked whose hands went up first, he initially said: “I think it might have been David’s [White’s hands].” R. 183, ll. 4-12; R. 184 ll. 5-9. He then confirmed to the solicitor that it was White whose hands went up first, followed by Johnson. R. 183, ll. 13-16. **On cross-examination, Green admitted that he could not really recall how the incident happened.** R. 185, ll. 3-18. Green did not see White with a

weapon at any time during the several hours that he was at Spencer's house that night. R. 183, ll. 17-20; R. 185, l. 19 – 186, l. 3.

Albert Jenkins knew both Johnson and White for approximately nine months from seeing them at Spencer's house, though he was not close with either of them. R. 148, ll. 2-23; R. 156, ll. 3-13. He was at Spencer's for approximately two hours prior to the incident. R. 148, l. 24 – 149, l. 19. Jenkins said that White and Johnson had been joking with each other but the "jokes got a little serious and so [Spencer] asked them to cut the joking because it was getting a little out of hand." R. 149, l. 20 – 150, l. 25. He claimed that White had been playing with a knife and that Spencer told White to stop or he would have to leave. R. 150, l. 25 – 151, l. 6; R. 156, l. 19 – 157, l. 2. Jenkins had never mentioned seeing White with a knife earlier in the evening in any of his prior statements to the police or the solicitor. R. 157, ll. 3-15.

Though Jenkins was on the other side of the yard, he said that White was leaving at Spencer's request. As White was walking away, White and Johnson "got close to each other [and] pushed off." R. 151, l. 7 – 152, l. 3; R. 152, ll. 6-23. Johnson grabbed his neck and said "oh man he cut me." R. 152, ll. 3-4. **Jenkins admitted that he was surprised because he did not see all that transpired.** R. 152, ll. 4-5. Though the solicitor prompted him to say that White ran from the yard, Jenkins corrected her that White walked out of the yard. R. 154, ll. 17-23.

Henry Washington is Spencer's brother. White and Johnson were both hanging out by the fire when Henry arrived at Spencer's on the night of the incident. R. 162, l. 1 – 163, l. 1. Henry described all of the men as laughing and joking with each other, with the conversation turning to wrestling at one point and who would "tap out" first. R. 163, l. 2 – 164, l. 5; R. 166, l. 16 – 167, l. 2. He recalled White pushing Johnson earlier in the evening but said that it was well

before the incident and playful. R. 165, l. 23 – 166, l. 15. **Henry did not observe the incident between White and Johnson, as his back was turned to them until Johnson said that he was cut.** R. 164, ll. 6-25; R. 168, ll. 5-7. Henry did not know that White even had a knife with him, as he had not seen him with one earlier in the night. R. 168, ll. 12-16.

Dwayne Forrest had seen both White and Johnson at Spencer's house two or three times in the past but did not know either of them well. R. 162, ll. 5-17. Forrest claimed that White and Johnson were "fussing" with each other when he came into Spencer's yard, "like they [were] ready to fight each other." R. 172, l. 18 – 173, l. 23; R. 174, ll. 9-14; R. 177, ll. 2-6. Forrest said that White's hands were in his pockets and then he "swung his arm and that's when [Johnson] grab[bed] his neck." R. 173, l. 24 – 174, l. 2; R. 176, ll. 16-24. Forrest admitted that he arrived at Spencer's house just minutes before the incident and had no idea what else had transpired that night. R. 176, ll. 3-11; R. 177, ll. 7-12.

Joseph Johnson did not recall having ever met White before the night of the incident. R. 103, ll. 21-23. According to Johnson, White was playing around with a knife, which he had seen him with earlier near the fire, while Johnson cut his hair. R. 104, l. 1 – 105, l. 19. Johnson said that everyone was friendly and having a good time, but said that he did not know White, so he "didn't have nothing to say to [White]." R. 105, l. 20 – 106, l. 7. Johnson said that after he finished White's hair, he packed up his hair cutting tools. As Johnson was putting them on the back of his moped, Henry asked him if he was leaving. Johnson told Henry "yes" and they shook hands. Johnson said that he turned around toward Spencer and said that he would see him later. He claimed that White came walking past him and suddenly swung at him, cutting Johnson's neck. R. 106, l. 8 – 108, l. 13. Johnson maintained that he never hit White and had no physical contact with him other than cutting his hair. R. 128, l. 21 – 129, l. 1. Johnson said that

he did not speak to White while he cut his hair and denied that he had any argument with White on the night of the incident. R. 140, ll. 18-20; R. 143, ll. 2-20.

Johnson acknowledged that for two years he had told investigators and the solicitor's office that he was attacked from behind while he was sitting on his moped. R. 133, l. 16 – 137, l. 13. Though Johnson initially denied any recollection of the preliminary hearing, when confronted with the transcript, he admitted that he confirmed to the judge that White attacked him from behind. R. 137, l. 14 – 138, l. 22; R. 233, l. 6 – 235, l. 11. Johnson claimed that his memory comes and goes and that he wanted to tell the solicitor how it really happened earlier, but did not get a chance to tell them until the day before his testimony. Notably, however, as recently as the Thursday before the trial began, Johnson told the solicitor the “cut from behind” version of events. R. 131, l. 16 – 137, l. 13.

Paramedics transported Johnson to the Medical University of South Carolina (“MUSC”) for emergency treatment. R. 199, l. 20 – 208, l. 23. Though Johnson testified that he was at MUSC for twelve to fourteen days, his treating physician confirmed that it was ten days. R. 307, l. 20 – 308, l. 14. Dr. Samir Fakhry explained that Johnson was treated for a ten-centimeter laceration to his neck. They performed a surgery to determine what part of Johnson's neck was damaged and repair it. The doctors determined that the injury was to the sternocleidomastoid muscle, which aids the rotation of the head, and not to any of the more serious structures of the neck. R. 296, l. 22 – 301, l. 6; R. 303, l. 6 – 304, l. 16; R. 306, l. 3 – 307, 19. While Johnson lost a significant amount of blood, it was still less than what would have been necessary to cause severe shock or death. R. 301, ll. 7-21.

Admissibility of Johnson's Statements

An *in camera* hearing was held during White's testimony to determine the admissibility of statements that the alleged victim, Johnson, made to him prior to the incident. R. 323, l. 25 – 341, l. 22. The solicitor objected based on "hearsay" when defense counsel asked White what Johnson told him while he was cutting his hair that night. Defense counsel argued that the testimony was not being offered for the truth of the matter asserted but to show state of mind. The trial judge initially overruled the objection. R. 323, l. 25 – 324, l. 12. When the solicitor objected based on "hearsay" again, the judge sent the jury out and defense counsel proffered the testimony. R. 324, l. 13 – 325, l. 12. White testified that Johnson "was talking about back when he was in prison and the shanks he used to make when he was in prison" and told him "about his gun and knife he had underneath his moped seat." R. 326, l. 1 – 327, l. 13.

The solicitor argued that the testimony was hearsay because it was offered to show that Johnson was armed and does not fall under any exception. R. 328, ll. 1-15. The judge responded that it was being offered to show state of mind. R. 328, ll. 16-21. However, he then raised the issue of relevance, asking defense counsel how the defendant's state of mind was relevant to an accident defense. The judge reasoned that self-defense could not be applicable because White said he did not aim for Johnson's throat or cut him on purpose. R. 328, l. 22 – 330, l. 1. Defense counsel responded that White was acting lawful in self-defense based on Johnson hitting him in the head and his fear of him based on the comments about weapons Johnson made throughout the night, but that he did not intend to cut Johnson when he swung his arm. R. 330, ll. 2-21. The trial judge responded: "The accident and self-defense pretty well can't co-exist. Which is it you want to do?" R. 331, ll. 1-3. Defense counsel reiterated how self-defense and accident were both at play at the time of the incident and argued that the

statements are not hearsay because they go to White's state of mind. R. 331, ll. 10-24. The trial judge responded: "I think it's relevant as to self-defense. I'm not buying into your argument hey its self-defense and then all of a sudden it's an accident. That's getting to the point of being absurd." R. 331, l. 25 – 332, l. 3.

After defense counsel persisted in her argument that the defenses were not mutually exclusive, the trial judge asked the solicitor for her response. R. 332, l. 4 – 333, l. 13. The solicitor argued that the statement about the shank was irrelevant because Johnson did not say that he had a shank on him that night. R. 333, ll. 14 – 334, l. 1. Regarding the gun and knife on Johnson's moped, the solicitor argued that "it can't be both ways for both an accident and self-defense." R. 334, ll. 1-13. As such, she averred that if the defense is accident that state of mind is irrelevant, and that if the defense is self-defense that it is hearsay and "too prejudicial." R. 334, ll. 13-20. In response, defense counsel argued that Johnson's discussion of making shanks was strange to bring up and part of why White felt threatened by Johnson that night. R. 334, l. 21 – 335, l. 11.

The trial judge initially ruled that the statement regarding shanks was not relevant to self-defense or accident and would be excluded. R. 335, ll. 18-24. Defense counsel presented an alternate theory of admissibility for impeachment because Johnson denied telling White about making shanks during his cross-examination. R. 337, l. 22 – 338, l. 22. The trial judge agreed that the shank statement would be admissible, but for purposes of impeachment only. R. 338, l. 23 – 339, l. 24.

Regarding Johnson's statement that he had a gun and knife under his moped seat, defense counsel reiterated that she was not trying to show that the weapons were actually there, but that White believed that Johnson had access to them because they were in close proximity. R. 335, l.

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