**RECEIVED**  
JAN 10 2013  
S.C. SUPREME COURT

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA**  
**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

Appeal from Charleston County  
Honorable J.C. Buddy Nicholson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-000616

---

**THE STATE,**

**Respondent,**

**vs.**

**DAVID ALAN WHITE,**

**Appellant.**

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**ALAN WILSON**  
Attorney General

**DAVID SPENCER**  
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

**SCARLET A. WILSON**  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street Suite 400

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Charleston County

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**White was not limited in presenting his defense to either accident or self-defense. In context, the trial court was merely finding an insufficient foundation was laid to admit hearsay statements that would allegedly show White had a reasonable fear of victim when he slashed his throat. White never presented sufficient evidence warranting a self-defense instruction, and he received an instruction on accident.**

White raises as the first issue in his brief the false claim that the trial court limited him to raising either self-defense or accident. This never happened. Instead, defense counsel elicited a snippet of testimony from White that arguably supported the defense of accident, but not self-defense. Defense counsel then attempted to elicit testimony that before the assault, Little Bear told White he made shanks in prison and kept a gun and knife in his moped.

Prior to seeking to admit White's hearsay testimony, White testified (1) he did not try to kill Little Bear; (2) he admitted he cut Little Bear; (3) he did not mean to cut Little Bear; and (4) he did not aim for Little Bear's throat. R. p. 320, lines 14-23. He further testified he never met Little Bear before the gathering, there was no tension between them, and there was no dispute over money or the quality of the haircut. R. p. 323, lines 5-24. At this point defense counsel attempted to elicit testimony that Little Bear told White he made shanks in prison, and he kept a knife and gun in his moped. R. pp. 324-27. Defense counsel claimed it was admissible because it went to White's state of mind for purposes of self-defense. R. pp. 328-29.

The trial court observed that "based upon what he has already said how can you possibly raise self-defense because self-defense is a [purposeful] act you intentionally inflicted physical harm on a person that you were in imminent fear of. Well, he's already said he did not cut him on purpose. . . .

Now where is self-defense going to come into this?" R. p. 329, lines 7-14.

The trial court further observed, "So none of this testimony he has said so far has any relevancy at all unless there is a valid self-defense case." R. p. 329, lines 21-23. Counsel advised the trial court that White would admit he never saw a weapon and did not know whether Little Bear had a weapon. R. p. 330, lines 7-9. Further, White's counsel explained White allegedly feared Little Bear could do him harm because Little Bear talked about making shanks and bragged about being a good wrestler. R. p. 330, lines 10-12.

Counsel falsely predicted White would testify he armed himself in self-defense. R. p. 330, lines 15-21. Instead, White later testified he had the knife in his pocket already when the incident occurred because he was just cutting saran wrap before he "accidentally" slashed Little Bear's throat. R. pp. 346-47. Further, White subsequently testified he did not feel threatened when he was hit, and he did not know who he was swinging his knife at before his knife managed to find Little Bear's throat. So, as further discussed in the next issue, the excluded testimony was not relevant because White, by his own testimony, did not know who hit him when he swung his large knife in retaliation. R. p. 360, lines 8-11. Therefore, his knowledge that Little Bear might have a gun or knife in his moped was not relevant towards explaining why he cut his then unknown assailant.

White's primary vehicle for arguing the trial court made a mistake of law is State v. Williams, 400 S.C. 308, 733 S.E.2d 605 (Ct. App. 2012). In Williams, the trial court failed to instruct the jury on either self-defense or accident, and this Court carefully analyzed the facts to first determine if the evidence supported self-defense. This Court then determined the evidence also supported an instruction on accident. Williams testified the victim started shooting at him and Williams ran away. Williams testified he was in fear for his life and he was afraid he would be shot

in the back. His driver tossed him the rifle Williams claimed went off without him pulling the trigger. His testimony was inconsistent – he alternatively claimed he shot the victim because he thought the victim would shoot him first. Id. at 315-16, 733 S.E.2d at 609-10.

After concluding evidence supported instructions for both self-defense and accident, this Court commented, “We note that even though self-defense and accident charges are often mutually exclusive, there is evidence in the record to support both charges in this case.” Id. at 317, 733 S.E.2d at 610 (emphasis added). The instant case is distinguishable because, as more fully discussed later in the brief, the evidence did not support self-defense. The defenses of accident and self-defense occasionally mutually coexist, but they do not in this case. See id. at 318, 733 S.E.2d at 611 (J. Lockemy, concurring).

White’s arrangement of issues in his brief and his argument as to this issue are odd because White separately challenges the exclusion of his testimony about his conversation with Little Bear and the trial court’s decision to decline instructing the jury on self-defense. The essence of White’s argument in this issue is the trial court made an incorrect legal statement, so White is entitled to a new trial. In context, the trial court did not make a misstatement of law, but merely observed that the facts alleged and the testimony presented could not support both accident and self-defense. However, even if the trial court is mistaken, there is no prejudice as the evidence was properly excluded, and evidence did not support an instruction on self-defense, with or without the excluded evidence. State v. Preslar, 364 S.C 466, 473, 613 S.E.2d 381, 385 (Ct. App. 2005) (“In order for an error to warrant reversal, the error must result in prejudice to the appellant.”).

In the instant case, the trial court was not admonishing White to choose a defense and it was not determining its instructions to the jury, it was ruling on an evidentiary matter and the lack of

foundation to admit the testimony White's counsel sought to elicit.

## II.

**The trial court did not err in declining to admit appellant's hearsay statements that the victim told him he made shanks in prison and kept a gun and knife in his moped because they were not relevant since appellant did not act in self-defense.**

At the point of the trial in which White attempted to admit his testimony that Little Bear told him he made shanks in prison and kept a gun and knife in his moped, White had only testified he did not mean to cut Little Bear and did not mean to cut Little Bear's throat. Obviously, no evidence supporting self-defense was presented at this point. Further, as discussed later in the brief, White failed to provide sufficient evidence meeting the four elements of self-defense during the remainder of his testimony. Accordingly, Little Bear's conversation with White never became relevant, because White's knowledge that Little Bear had weapons stored in the moped was immaterial since White did not know who he swung his big knife at. Therefore, the trial court did not err in suppressing the hearsay testimony.

"The relevance, materiality, and admissibility of evidence are matters within the sound discretion of the trial court and a ruling will be disturbed only upon a showing of an abuse of discretion." State v. Shuler, 353 S.C. 176, 184, 577 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2003). The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the trial court's sound discretion and will not be reversed absent a manifest abuse of the trial court's discretion and probable prejudice. State v. Wise, 359 S.C. 14, 21, 596 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004). "An error without prejudice does not warrant reversal." State v. King, 367 S.C. 131, 136, 623 S.E.2d 865, 867 (Ct. App. 2005).

"While defendants are entitled to a fair opportunity to present a defense, that right does not encompass the right to present any evidence, regardless of its admissibility under the rules of

evidence.” State v. Hamilton, 344 S.C. 344, 359, 543 S.E.2d 586, 594 (Ct. App. 2001) *overruled on other grounds by* State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005).

“Hearsay” is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted. Rule 801, SCRE. Hearsay is inadmissible except as provided by statute, the Rules of Evidence, or other court rules: Rule 802, SCRE; State v. LaCoste, 347 S.C. 153, 553 S.E.2d 464 (Ct. App. 2001).

Relevant evidence is “evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. For evidence to be admissible, it must be relevant. Rule 402, SCRE. Relevant evidence may be excluded where its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Rule 403, SCRE; State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 210, 631 S.E.2d 262, 266 (2006).

Given the absence of evidence supporting self-defense, the trial court keenly observed “**based upon what he has already said** how can you possibly raise self-defense because self-defense is a [purposeful] act you intentionally inflicted physical harm on a person that you were in imminent fear of. Well, he’s already said he did not cut him on purpose. . . . Now where is self-defense going to come into this?” R. p. 329, lines 7-14 (emphasis added).

Trial counsel advised the trial court that White would testify he armed himself in self-defense. R. p. 330. However, White never did testify that he armed himself in self-defense. Instead, he later testified before the jury that he was already carrying around the knife after having used it earlier to cut some packaging tape.

The trial court found, “[L]et me say this about the shank. I don’t think it’s relevant as to

accident and/or self-defense because that's a prior act. It doesn't have anything to do with the present whether he had a shank or didn't have a shank so I'm not going to allow that testimony." R. p. 335, lines 18-23. However, when White offered evidence of the shank as impeachment evidence, the trial court allowed the testimony to be admitted for that purpose. R. p. 338, lines 8-10. The trial court then provided a limiting instruction that the statement about the shank was allowed for impeachment only. R. p. 341.

Additionally, the trial court also ruled it would not allow White to testify that Little Bear told him about the gun and knife allegedly kept in the moped, noting it had no bearing on the case. R. p. 340, lines 1-3. The trial court ruled correctly because White's counsel admitted that White did not know if Little Bear had a weapon on him at the time he cut him. R. p. 338, lines 11-12. Since White did not foster a belief, or have reason to foster a belief, that Little Bear was armed at the moment White struck him with the knife, the testimony about the knife and gun stored in the moped was irrelevant since it did support a reasonable belief that Little Bear was in fact armed. Additionally, in the absence of a foundation supporting self-defense, the statement constituted hearsay. See State v. Hendricks, 408 S.C. 525, 532-33, 759 S.E.2d 434, 438 (Ct. App. 2014) (rejecting argument that declarant's statement was not for the truth of the matter, and finding the declarant's statement was hearsay, because the probative value of the statement was in the truth of the matter asserted, that defendant raped victim, rather than for the purpose of explaining officer's reasons for going to see victim at the hospital, which carried minimal probative value).

White cites a case that actually defeats his claim of error, State v. Washington, 367 S.C. 76, 623 S.E.2d 836 (Ct. App. 2005), *aff'd as mod.*, 379 S.C. 120, 665 S.E.2d 602 (2008). In Washington, the trial court did not allow Washington to admit evidence that the victim kept weapons

in his trunk because no evidence was presented that Washington knew the victim kept weapons in his trunk or that he kept weapons at all. Also no evidence was presented the victim approached his trunk prior to being stabbed. Washington claimed he thought the victim might have a gun in his car because the victim was rummaging under the car seats and Washington testified that most people carry a gun under their car seat. This Court found no prejudicial error from the trial court excluding the testimony. Id. at 81-82, 623 S.E.2d at 839.

White attempts to distinguish Washington, claiming, “Unlike Washington, the defense was not attempting to present evidence that [Little Bear] was actually armed but rather that White believed that he was armed.” Br. of App. p. 22. However, no evidence was presented that White believed Washington was armed. Instead, defense counsel was clear, admitting, “But again my client he’ll be honest; he didn’t know if the man had a weapon on him.” R. p. 338, lines 11-12. Further, White admitted he did not know who hit him or who he was swinging his knife at when he retaliated at the alleged slight. Therefore, as in Washington, the evidence was not relevant because White failed to establish a belief that Little Bear was armed or that he knew Little Bear was the person who hit him when he swung his knife. Accordingly, the testimony was irrelevant and inadmissible hearsay.

Further, after the trial court’s preliminary ruling, White’s counsel never sought to revisit this ruling after White completed his direct testimony. Even if White did attempt to revisit the ruling, the evidence never became admissible because White’s supposed fear of Little Bear was not relevant when he swung the knife without knowing who he swung it at. On cross-examination, White provided the following testimony:

Q: You took a knife and you swung behind you.

A: I did not intentionally mean to swing out the knife at him. I mean I just swung out the knife. I just swung out.

Q: You were just swinging wild?

A: Pretty much.

Q: [Little Bear] could have been behind you?

A: **Spencer could have been behind me.**

Q: Anyone could have been behind you?

A: Whoever hit me.

R. p. 357, lines 10-19 (emphasis added).

Accordingly, the trial court did not err in declining to allow the hearsay testimony, as it was irrelevant to the case. Determination of relevancy is largely within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of that discretion. State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 127, 606 S.E.2d 508, 513 (Ct. App. 2004). Further, any error was harmless, since evidence did not even support a self-defense instruction and the evidence of guilt was overwhelming. State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985) (holding whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the case, but it is harmless where it could not reasonably have changed the outcome of the trial).

### III.

**The trial court did not err in declining to instruct the jury on second degree assault and battery where the uncontroverted evidence was that the injury suffered constituted "great bodily injury."**

White argues the trial court erred in declining to instruct the jury on second degree assault and battery as a lesser included offense. The trial court instructed the jury on attempted murder, assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN), and first degree assault and battery; the jury finding White guilty of ABHAN. White argues it was a jury issue as to whether the ten centimeter gash on his victim's throat constituted "great bodily injury" as required by ABHAN. No evidence exists that the wound was anything less than a great bodily injury.

Dr. Samir Fakhry treated Victim and testified that when Victim arrived at the hospital, EMS already placed a breathing tube in Victim's neck. Dr. Fakhry explained:

Because of his condition and our concern about whether or not he was being adequately ventilated or getting enough air and because of the amount of bleeding the emergency medicine doctors who were helping us manage his airway decided to exchange his tube and put in a better tube for him.

R. p. 298, lines 19-23. Dr. Fakhry noted the medical personnel were only able to partially control the bleeding: "[The bleeding] continued but it wasn't as severe as it would have been if we were not applying pressure but it wasn't satisfactory. We did not consider it satisfactorily controlled bleeding." R. p. 299, lines 11-15.

Dr. Fakhry testified, "The blood loss that we were aware of – I can't quantitate what he lost before he arrived to us particularly well but he lost somewhere in the vicinity of 750 to 1000 milliliters so that would be about two or three pints of blood in layman's description." R. p. 301,

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